1960

# Jack A. Milligan v. Melvin Coy Harward, Kenneth B. McDuffy and C. E. Lindsey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this brief, plaintiff and appellant will be referred to as plaintiff, and defendant and respondents will be referred to by their surnames or as defendants.

All italics are ours.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff was a guest passenger in an automobile driven by defendant, Melvin Coy Harward, on the 15th of August, 1958, which collided with the truck of defendant, Lindsey, at approximately 1:30 A.M.

Prior to the collision, plaintiff, James Finnegan, and Harward had been playing pool in the Lackawanna Club at 3110 South State Street.

As plaintiff, Harward and Finnegan, played pool they drank beer purchased from the Club. Plaintiff and Finnegan had had one glass of beer to drink during the evening of August 14th, prior to the time that they arrived at the Lackawanna Club and before they ate their supper.

Both Finnegan and plaintiff testified that they noticed nothing wrong with the way that the defendant, Harward, played pool; that as far as they could observe his behavior was entirely normal and regular. Plaintiff and Finnegan met Harward at the Lackawanna Club. Harward had had no supper before coming to the Club. (R. 160). After the plaintiff, Finnegan, and Harward had completed their pool games they went out of the Lackawanna Club to the defendant Harward's car and started north along State Street toward the New China Cafe located at about 2150 South State Street.

Defendant, Kenneth B. McDuffy, was the driver of a Kenilworth truck and trailer and had parked the vehicles at 2195 South State Street. Harward's automobile came into collision with the left rear of the truck. The weather was rainy. Plaintiff was seated in the car with back against the door on the righthand side relaxed and discussing with the driver Harward their social affairs and did not observe anything ahead of the car in which he was riding prior to its impact.

Plaintiff was seriously injured as result of the collision and at the time of the trial had not recovered fully from the effects of the accident.

Plaintiff claimed that the defendant Harward was guilty of wilful misconduct, or was intoxicated, at the time of the impact in which he received his injuries and that said conduct was the proximate cause of the injury and collision.

Plaintiff claimed that the defendants, McDuffy and Lindsey, were negligent in that the truck which was parked on the east side of State Street was unlighted and protruded out into the lane of traffic normally reserved for travelers proceeding in a northerly direction.

The evidence revealed that neither plaintiff nor Finnegan, the guests in the automobile of Harward, had noticed anything peculiar or unusual about Harward's conduct and did not believe, at the time they entered his automobile, that he was under the influence of intoxicat-

ing liquor, although both had played several hours of pool with him and observed him drinking beer as the game of pool proceeded. Officer Iba, after the accident, observed Harward for a while and formed the opinion that he was intoxicated. (R. 61).

Neither plaintiff nor Finnegan noticed anything unusual about the way that Harward operated his car as he drove it the few blocks north along State Street immediately prior to the collision.

Harward stated that immediately prior to the impact he turned his head away from the front to the right facing to the back seat to take a cigarette from Finnegan who was seated in the back seat. That as he came back the impact occurred. (R. 162).

After the presentation of plaintiff's evidence the trial court granted the motions of all defendants for dismissal of plaintiff's case on the ground and for the reason that the evidence would not justify a verdict in plaintiff's favor. From this Order of the Trial Court, plaintiff has prosecuted his appeal to this Court.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATED THAT HARWARD  
WAS GUILTY OF WILFUL MISCONDUCT OR INTOXICA-



TION PROXIMATELY CAUSING PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

(a) HARWARD WAS GUILTY OF WILFUL MISCONDUCT IN TURNING AROUND AND LOOKING TO THE BACK SEAT AS HE DROVE NORTH ON STATE STREET.

## POINT .II

THE EVIDENCE CREATED A QUESTION OF FACT AS TO THE CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF PLAINTIFF.

## POINT III.

THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATED THAT THE DEFENDANTS McDUFFY AND LINDSEY WERE GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTING TO CAUSING PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATED THAT HARWARD WAS GUILTY OF WILFUL MISCONDUCT OR INTOXICATION PROXIMATELY CAUSING PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

The Jury was furnished with sufficient factual basis for a finding that the defendant, Harward, was intoxicated at the time of the collision and injury of plaintiff. The evidence and testimony of the witnesses is relatively free from conflict. Harward admitted that he had con-

sumed at least five cans of beer while playing pool with plaintiff and Finnegan. Officer Iba, after observing Harward for a considerable time came to the conclusion that he was under the influence of intoxicating liquor. The evidence showed that Harward had not eaten anything since approximately 2:00 or 3:00 o'clock in the afternoon. Under such circumstances the effect of the beer would be greater than the same amount of beverage on plaintiff and Finnegan, who had eaten a substantial supper prior to coming to the Club. The Jury might logically find that Harward was more affected by the beer which he drank because of the lack of food in his stomach than would have normally have been the case. Five cans of beer or five glasses of beer could be sufficient to affect his ability to drive and to make him unable to carefully and safely operate his vehicle. Iba's testimony from observation over a considerable period of time would be sufficient basis for the finding that Harward was intoxicated.

Each case must stand on its own peculiar factual basis, but perhaps a consideration of a few of the cases from this and other jurisdictions would be of assistance.

The closest case on the facts and law is *Johnson v. Marquis*, 93 Cal. App. 2nd 341, 209 P.2d 63. The California Guest Statute is similar in wording to our Utah Guest Statute. The basic legal principles were the same as will be applied in this Court. In the *Johnson*

case, the owner and driver of the automobile had not eaten anything during the afternoon and had only a cup of coffee and a sandwich for her lunch. She, and the two passengers, stopped at a cafe and there the driver had one Seven-up highball. She took over the driving of the automobile and drove from that time until she struck the back of a parked truck which had a red light burning at its rear. The road over which she drove was a two-lane highway and the night was stormy. The evidence shows that she drove at 80 to 90 miles per hour even though there were many turns in the highway.

The California Appellate Court emphasized the fact that the driver had not eaten for a considerable period prior to the time that she had the one Seven-up highball and pointed out that the exact effect of intoxicants on any one person is dependent on a number of factors and may be different in one state of bodily chemistry from what it is in another state of bodily chemistry. The Court upheld the Jury verdict and found that the driver was guilty of wilful misconduct or intoxication in causing the collision with the rear end of the truck and the injuries to the passengers.

In *Cox v. Johnson*, ..... Colo. ...., 339 P. 2d 989, the driver was drinking beer but appeared before the accident to have been sober. The evidence revealed that prior to the accident the driver had drunk from three to nine beers. Two witnesses testified that he did not appear

to be drunk. The plaintiff himself observed defendant drinking three or four beers.

The Colorado Supreme Court ruled that the questions of intoxication, assumption of risk, and wilful misconduct, were all questions of fact for the Jury. Plaintiff submits that the *Cox v. Johnson* case is in point on all of the questions before this Court.

*Perry v. Schmitt*, 184 Kan. 758, 339 P. 2d 36, is a case where the guest observed the driver drinking and the Court ruled that the question of intoxication was a question of fact for the Jury.

It is respectfully submitted that under the principles of law applicable and the evidence the Jury could have found, considering the evidence most favorably to the plaintiff, that Harward was intoxicated at the time of the collision.

#### SUB POINT "A"

(a) HARWARD WAS GUILTY OF WILFUL MISCONDUCT IN TURNING AROUND AND LOOKING TO THE BACK SEAT AS HE DROVE NORTH ON STATE STREET.

The conduct of the defendant, Harward, in turning around to take a cigarette from passenger, Finnegan, riding in the back seat is wilful misconduct. It was a

proximate cause of the collision between his car and the truck.

This Court has had a cigarette case before it on one prior occasion. In *Ricciuti v. Roberts*, 2 Utah 2d 45, 269 P.2d 282, the driver of the automobile dropped a cigarette in his clothing and while hunting the cigarette went over the curb and caused the injury to his passenger. The decision, reversing the Jury Verdict, was that the conduct of the driver was not the intentionally doing or omitting to do a negligent act, but that his hunting for the cigarette was an involuntary act and could not be the basis of a verdict which must be based on wilful misconduct. The Court pointed out that the cigarette was not intentionally dropped, and as a consequence it could not be held to be wilful.

In the present case, the distinction is clear. Harward, in turning around to the right to take a cigarette from a person riding in the back seat was not acting involuntarily but was voluntarily and intentionally acting. It seems obvious his act was very dangerous. This is especially true since he had begun to pull over toward the right-hand side of the highway preparatory to stopping at the New China Cafe.

There are a number of cases that have held that voluntarily and intentionally taking your eyes off the road is gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

*Gustaveson v. Vernon*, 165 Nebr. 745, 87 NW 2d. 395, was a case in which the driver took her eyes off the road for approximately four seconds, and during that time the car which she was driving veered across the road into a parked automobile on the side of the road and caused the injuries to her guest resulting in a jury verdict in her favor. The Nebraska Supreme Court upheld the verdict and considered the conduct on the part of the driver to be sufficient to justify a finding of the jury that she was guilty of gross negligence.

In *Dirks v. Gates*, 182 Kan. 581, 322 P.2d 750, the driver turned his head from the road to look back and observe traffic on the road behind him. As a result, the automobile went out of control and the injuries to his guest occurred. The Court held that such conduct on the part of the driver was wanton negligence and upheld the verdict in favor of the guest.

*Topel v. Correz*, 273 Wis. 611, 79 NW 2d 253, is a case of the driver being somewhat intoxicated, driving along the highway and watching the speedometer rather than keeping his eyes on the road and as a consequence the automobile ran off the road and into a tree injuring the owner of the automobile who was riding in it as a passenger. The Court held that this conduct on the part of the driver was sufficient to justify a verdict in favor of the owner guest riding in the automobile.

*Simpson v. Marks*, 349 Ill. App. 527, 111 NE 2d. 370, is a case of a driver who, the passenger claimed, took his hands off the wheel and attempted to make love to her while driving the automobile. The driver claimed, however, that he turned his head from the road to watch an accident scene that had occurred in the opposite lane of traffic and as a result the collision occurred. The Court considered both plaintiff's claim that the driver attempted to make love to her and took his hands off the wheel, and the driver's claim that what occurred was that he was looking back watching an automobile accident in the opposite lane of traffic. Defendant claimed that the plaintiff's story that he took his hands off the wheel to make love to her was so improbable and unreasonable as not to be worthy of belief. The Court ruled that even defendant's own story that he turned around to watch an automobile accident in the opposite lane of traffic would justify the Jury's verdict. The driver would be still guilty of wilful and wanton misconduct.

Perhaps the case closest to the facts of the case presently before the Court is *McGowan v. Camp*, 87 Ga. App. 671, 75 S.E. 2d 350. In this case, the driver of the automobile took her right hand off the wheel and her eyes off the road in order to reprimand her small son who was riding in the front seat with her. The Court held this conduct sufficient to constitute gross negligence and justify a verdict in favor of the guest of the driver. The Court pointed out that this kind of action was an

intentional and deliberate act on the part of the driver as distinguished from an involuntary act. This distinction exists between the present case and *Ricciuti v. Robinson*, 2 Utah 2d 45, 269 P.2d 282.

Plaintiff respectfully submits that the conduct of the defendant, Harward, was deliberate and wilful. It was the kind of action which was known and realizable as would greatly endanger persons riding in the automobile with the driver.

Such act, it is respectfully submitted, would justify a jury verdict on behalf of the plaintiff, if no intoxication was even considered. When considered with the fact of intoxication it would, of course, be much more forceful as far as justifying a Jury verdict in favor of plaintiff.

## POINT II.

THE EVIDENCE CREATED A QUESTION OF FACT AS TO THE CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF PLAINTIFF.

The Court's granting of defendant's Motion to dismiss plaintiff's case might be justified upon a mistaken belief that under the evidence the plaintiff was contributorily negligent as matter of law.

There has been a great deal of appellate consideration of the question of whether or not a guest's knowledge



that the driver of the automobile in which he was riding had been drinking is sufficient to preclude recovery of the guest.

Some Courts have based the denial of a guest's right of recovery on the idea that the guest assumed the risk of injury in entering the automobile knowing that the driver had been drinking. Other Courts have considered it a simple question of contributory negligence on the part of the guest. The soundest rule seems to be the one which was adopted by this Court and set up in the case of *Shoemaker v. Floor*, 117 Utah 434, 217 P. 2d 382. The guest in the Schoemaker case observed the defendant take three drinks prior to the time that she got in the car and commenced her ride back to Salt Lake City. She testified, however, that even though she observed him take three drinks, the driver did not appear in any way to be under the influence of intoxicating liquor. This Court held that under such circumstances the guest did not assume the risk as matter of law, and was not guilty of contributory negligence.

Applying the principle set down in the *Shoemaker v. Floor* supra case, it would appear that even though plaintiff here knew that defendant Harward had been drinking beer, unless he knew it had so affected Harward as to incapacitate him from driving safely and prudently, he would not be guilty of contributory negligence nor would he have been held to assume risk as matter of law.

The principle applied by this Court in the *Schoemaker* case is similar to the principles applied by the California Court under similar Statute in the case of *Johnson v. Marquis*, 93 Cal. App. 2d 341, 209 P.2d 63. There, the guests were present with the driver when she drank one Seven-up highball, and thereafter drove the automobile into the back of a parked truck. The Court held that the guests did not assume the risk, or were not guilty of contributory negligence as matter of law. Each case must depend on the particular facts involved, and such facts are properly submitted to the Jury for determination.

*Cox v. Johnson*, ..... Colo. ...., 239 P. 2d 989, holds that the fact that the guest observed the driver drinking three or four beers did not, as matter of law, make him guilty of assumption of risk or contributory negligence.

In *Topel v. Correz*, 273 Wis. 611, 79 NW 2d 253, the owner of the automobile, because he, himself, was intoxicated and did not feel competent to drive his own car, requested another person to drive for him. The other driver was intoxicated and while watching the speedometer on the automobile ran off the road into a tree and injured the owner of the car who was his guest. The Court held that under the facts the owner guest was not guilty of contributory negligence or assumption of risk so that his recovery could be barred as matter of law.

*Davis v. Hollowell*, 326 Mich. 673, 40 NW 2d 641, 15 ALR 2d 1160, holds that knowledge on the part of a guest that driver had been drinking is not sufficient without more to bar the guest's recovery.

The annotation of the *Davis v. Hollowell* case, 15 ALR 2d 1165, is a very complete enumeration and analysis of the various holdings concerning the question of knowledge and contributory negligence, or assumption of risk. The annotators state their conclusion as follows:

“It has been held in a number of cases that mere knowledge that the driver has been drinking is not sufficient to preclude recovery under Guest Statutes.”

In support of this conclusion the Annotation cites cases from California, Colorado, Massachusetts, Michigan, Montana, Ohio, Oregon, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, and cites the Utah case of *Shoemaker v. Floor*. The annotation recites the principle that for a passenger to be barred from recovery he must know, or in the exercise of ordinary care, should know that the driver is so intoxicated as to be incapacitated from driving safely and prudently before recovery could be barred as matter of law.

Plaintiff respectfully submits that there is no showing from the evidence presented that he knew, or in the

exercise of ordinary care should have known that Harward was intoxicated so as to be incapacitated from driving safely and prudently. The action of the Trial Court cannot be justified on any theory that plaintiff assumed the risk, or was guilty of contributory negligence as matter of law.

### POINT III.

THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATED THAT THE DEFENDANTS McDUFFY AND LINDSEY WERE GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTING TO CAUSING PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

One of the most hotly contested questions of fact in the presentation of plaintiff's evidence was where exactly the truck was parked on the highway and whether or not there were parking lights burning on it. Appendix "A" is a photograph of the drawing made by Officer Iba to illustrate his testimony and to show the various measurements which were made at the scene of the accident.

The Statutes of the State of Utah require that a vehicle be parked not more than eighteen (18) inches from the curb, *U.C.A. 1953, Section 41-6-104*. No truck operating on the highway may legally exceed eight feet in width, *U.C.A. 1953, Section 27-1-27*. Officer Iba and the Appendix "A" indicates that to the center of the rear wheel on the truck of Lindsey was 11 feet 5 $\frac{3}{4}$ ths inches from the curb line of State Street. This measurement

shows that the truck of the defendant Lindsey was not properly parked assuming that its width conformed and was the lawful width for such vehicles under the laws of the State of Utah.

Defendant Harward testified that there were no lights on the rear of the parked truck immediately prior to the collision. (R. 163). *U.C.A. 1953, Section 41-6-129* requires a vehicle to have such a light where it cannot be seen within a distance of 500 feet upon such highway.

Harward also testified that the right front of his automobile struck the left rear of the truck, and that the point of impact was barely a fraction of inches and had he been a few inches further out in the street he would have missed the truck, or had the truck been parked a few inches closer to the curb he would have cleared it. (R. 168)

There can be no doubt that where there is more than one cause of a collision all parties may be held responsible where negligence is found to exist.

In *Berry v. Visser*, 354 Mich. 38, 92 NW 2d 1, the Supreme Court of the State of Michigan held that even though a driver is negligent the negligence of the owner and driver of a parked vehicle may likewise be a proximate cause of the accident and both parties can be held

responsible for the ultimate damage to a party injured as a result of the collision.

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