1960

Jack A. Milligan v. Melvin Coy Harward, Kenneth B. McDuffy and C. E. Lindsey : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

To conform to the Preliminary Statement of the Appellant, throughout this brief plaintiff and appellant will be referred to as plaintiff, and defendants and respondents will be referred to as defendants. Further, all references are to the page numbers of the transcript of the trial and will be designated as "Tr." rather than to the renumbered pages of the record.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT A VERDICT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS, McDUFFY AND LINDSEY.

POINT II.

THE PLAINTIFF ASSUMED THE RISK OF RIDING WITH THE DRIVER HARWARD.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT A VERDICT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS, McDUFFY AND LINDSEY.

Exhibit "A," a photograph of a drawing on a blackboard, contained in plaintiff's brief, was never introduced in evidence and is not part of the record in this case. This drawing on the blackboard was used only for illustrative purposes. The testimony of Officer Iba, upon which the drawing is based so far as it relates to any measurements, was stricken from the record. Upon motion duly made by counsel for the defendants, McDuffy and Lindsey, the Court struck all testimony of measurements from the record.

"MR. AADNESEN: First, your Honor has under advisement the motion that we made previously to strike the testimony of Officer Iba as it relates to the measurements which were made by

others, and we think that that motion should be considered now.

"As your Honor will recall, he testified he did not make them; all he did was write them down. And on that basis, they are hearsay, no opportunity for us to cross-examine the officer as to the manner in which he made them, and his acts.

"THE COURT: Well, the testimony as those measurements are strictly hearsay. The witness couldn't even say who it was that told him the distances, nor when or where. So that may be stricken." (Tr. 198)

Plaintiff's counsel does not challenge this ruling in his brief nor on this appeal.

Officer Iba also testified that the truck was properly parked.

"A. Well, I don't remember what the measurements was to the truck tires, but the truck was parked all right. I mean, as far as I can see, and I had the opinion of officers that the truck was possibly parked all right."

"Q. Well, you have measured that little— Could we do this fairly, and say that right along here (indicating)—

"A. Is the gutter.

"Q. (Continuing) —is the gutter. And would it be fair to assume, from your observations and what you saw, that the right wheels of that truck were on that portion, near the curb?

"A. Well, I wouldn't want to say. But I am satisfied in my own mind the truck was parked all right.

"Q. Well, if it had been parked farther out than that, you would have noticed it, wouldn't you?

"A. Yes." (Tr. 26)

* * * *

"A. No. As I recall, the truck was parked all right. I mean—

"Q. Otherwise, you said you'd have said something about it, wouldn't you?

"A. Possibly." (Tr. 27)

* * * *

"A. I don't know actually what it is, but I imagine there would be 10 feet wider than the other two. Because any time a car stops and parks against that curb, it becomes a parallel parking. And if there's no traffic there, why, they do use it as a traffic lane. Rather, I mean—

"Q. Well, as a matter of fact, it's wide enough, that with a vehicle parked there—

"A. With a car there, you could still use it as a traffic lane.

"Q. They can still use that lane, can't they? So in actuality, there were three traveled lanes, plus a parking lane, even though the parking lane itself, to the extreme right, is not marked.

"A. That's right. There's no markings on the road itself.

"Q. When you observed the position of this car, as a matter of fact, Officer, that evening, and from that truck, it's a fact, isn't it, that the car in which the plaintiff was riding could have gone past this (indicating) and still stayed in that lane?

"A. There was plenty a room, yes, sir." (Tr. 28-29)

Further, as the plaintiff points out in his brief, the right front of the automobile struck the left rear of the truck and the point of impact was barely a fraction of inches and had the driver of the automobile been a few inches further out in the street he would have missed the truck. The automobile was traveling north on State Street and the truck was parked on the east side of the street. Officer Iba pointed out that even the plaintiff's car, which was located to the left rear and west of the truck after impact, was not in the traveled portion of the road.

"Q. When you first saw the cars that were involved—and I understand there won't be any question but what there was the Harward automobile and the truck of Mr. Lindsey—what was the position of the Harward automobile; where, in relation to the traveled portion of the highway?

"A. The Harward car was cocked to one side. I mean, it wasn't directly straight into the back end of the truck; it was cocked to one side, like it had shifted after the impact.

"Q. Was it in the traveled portion of the highway, the Harward car?

"A. No, it was over, I imagine a little further to the east." (Tr. 10-11)

We submit that there is absolutely no evidence whatsoever in the record which could support any contention that the truck was parked in violation of the statute. The Court graphically summarized this as follows:

"THE COURT: I listened to the evidence that's been introduced here very carefully, and

critically, made rather copious notes on it, and I cannot find a thing in the record, not a word, that states or indicates in any way that this truck was not properly and lawfully parked. That eleven-foot measurement is not in the record, it's been stricken because there is no foundation on which to admit it, and all the other evidence as to the truck, and mention of it, nowhere is there any—not a word that I can find in the record, that the truck was not legally and lawfully parked. I am certain there isn't a word that it was more than 18 inches from the curb. There is some evidence that it's closer to the curb, and parallel to it, and that, in effect, is all the measurements there is with respect to its position, except that of Officer Iba, who said it was rightly and lawfully parked.

"Now if anyone can point out to me any evidence in the record that shows that truck was not properly parked, I'd be quite interested in getting it.

"Counsel have anything more?

"MR. MIDGLEY: I have a motion, your Honor, aside from the one that is made.

"Are you going to rule on this prior motion at this time, or should I continue?

"THE COURT: If you have something you want to say, you have been silent through the arguments of the rest of them.

"MR. MIDGLEY: On behalf of the Defendant Harward, we can't properly or logically resist the motion.

"MR. KING: Well, your Honor, I don't know that the record shows our objection, but we strenuously object to the Court's striking from the record the measurements by Mr. Iba, in which he

participated as a part of a team. And if the Court does take that evidence out, of course, it knocks out the basic evidence we feel supports the proposition that the bus, or the truck was not properly parked.

"MR. AADNESEN: Your Honor, I take it that my motion is granted at this time?

"THE COURT: Yes, the motion of Mr. McDuffy and Mr. Lindsey, for a dismissal of the action on the grounds and assertions they included in the motion, is granted, and the action is dismissed for want of sufficient evidence to go to the jury or to the court for any other judgment." (Tr. 198-200)

* * * *

"Now, all the evidence in regard to that truck is that it was parked on the side of the road near the curb, outside of the painted lanes on what is known as the drainage lane or the gutter lane, which, by the law, is a parking lane where cars and trucks may be parked.

"The evidence is that this truck was so parked, and within all the requirements of the statute; that it was while the car was so parked that the other car crashed into the back of it, which resulted in the damages done. But there is no evidence in the record from which a conclusion could be reached or found that there's anything in connection with the truck, or the owners thereof, which in any way contributed to this accident. So there being no such thing for the jury to hunt for, and work at, there is nothing and no reason for sending the jury out to deliberate on something on which there is no evidence or claim." (Tr. 202)

Contrary to the testimony of the defendant Harward, Officer Iba testified that the defendant's lights were burn-

ing on the truck at the time he arrived at the scene of the accident after it occurred. This becomes unimportant because all of the testimony in the case indicates that the vehicle could be seen beyond a distance of 500 feet on the highway and there is no evidence to the contrary.

Officer Iba testified as follows:

“Q. Now, when you arrived, what direction did you come from?

“A. I came from the south. I was heading north.

“Q. In the same direction that the plaintiff was going, is that right?

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. Did you see some clearance lights on the truck?

“A. I don’t recall.

“Q. All right. Did you at any time?

“A. When I arrived there, I checked the truck to see—

“Q. All right. Let me ask you this: As you came up from the south, in this direction (indicating), did you have any trouble seeing the truck?

“A. No, sir, no trouble.

“Q. All right. You knew right where the accident was, didn’t you?

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. And there are some railroad tracks back here (indicating) aren’t there?

“A. There’s railroad tracks at 2200, I believe, south on State. There’s about three, three tracks.

"Q. That go across the street.

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. That would be somewhere down in this area (indicating) ?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. Roughly speaking. What is the lighting on that street?

"A. It's well lit. It has the lights that burn till daylight every morning.

"Q. Sodium vapor lights are they not?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. And tell me, there is a gas station across the street from there, isn't there?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. There's a restaurant just ahead of it aways.

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. Isn't there also a motel right near where the accident happened?

"A. There's a motel between the accident and the New China, I believe.

"Q. Yes. In other words, somewhere in here (indicating).

"A. Yes. And there's another motel across the street to the west.

"Q. Over here (indicating).

"A. Yes.

"Q. And then there's a gas station here (indicating).

"A. Wasatch Avenue, in between the motel and the station.

"Q. Is that a rather fully lighted gas station?

"A. It's open all night.

"Q. Now, up this direction is 21st South, is that right?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. Is that a well lighted intersection?

"A. Fairly well. It's—

"Q. I take it, then, that the visibility is good in that area.

"A. Well, it's—it's good visibility. I mean—

"Q. It's well lighted.

"A. It was stormy that night. I mean, it had been raining but—

"Q. But the visibility was good?

"A. The visibility was all right.

"Q. And when you arrived at the scene of that accident, you made an observation, as you have previously said. The truck had clearance lights burning on rear and side.

"A. That's, that's what I have on here, so that must have been the way it was.

"Q. Well, as you recall it, there isn't any question, is there?

"A. No." (Tr. 32-34).

* * * *

"Q. Mr. Iba, just one or two more questions. When you arrived at the scene of the accident that night, you walked around in front of the truck first to see if anyone was hurt, is that right?

"A. Yes.

"Q. You saw nothing, is that correct?

"A. Nothing.

"Q. It was light enough for you to see in front of the truck, wasn't it?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. And, as a matter of fact, isn't it true that in the very near vicinity of this truck, where it was parked, was a sodium vapor light (indicating)?

"A. I believe it's up ahead.

"Q. Just up ahead of it?

"A. (Witness nods head in the affirmative.)

"Q. And also one to the rear, from where you measured to the light pole, isn't it?

"A. I can't remember.

"Q. But at any rate, there was a light hanging over and close to that truck, just ahead of it.

And, Mr. Iba, from the observations you made that night, from what you have seen, in consideration of the weather and everything else, would you say you could see at least 500 feet ahead while you were driving down the street?

"A. Well, I would say you'd have clear visibility of the street with the lighting.

"Q. Yes. And, as a matter of fact, an object as big as that truck, you could have seen it 500 feet away whether it was lighted or not, couldn't you?

"A. Possibly." (Tr. 40-41)

Finnegan, the passenger in the car riding in the back seat, also testified as to visibility and places the ability to see traffic on 21st South a distance of 1200 feet away.

"Q. When you were riding in the back of the truck, or in the back of the automobile, you said you had the six packs of beer on the right-hand of you, is that right?

"A. Right here on the right-hand side. (Indicating.)

"Q. And you were looking at the semaphore on 21st South?

"A. Looking at the traffic going by there. No semaphore. There was traffic lights going by there.

"Q. Down on 21st South?

"A. 21st South, traffic.

"Q. That's about three blocks, isn't it?

"A. No.

"Q. Well, measured in city blocks.

"A. I think it's about, maybe a block and a half from the scene of the accident. Two blocks you can figure I was looking at them before he hit the truck.

"Q. That's about it, huh, about two blocks?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Now, when you use 'blocks,' are you using the blocks down there, or what we normally call as a city block?

"A. Well, I go by the numbers. I think the Trucking Service is around 2200, or such a matter there.

"Q. 2200 would be—

"A. I imagine it would be something like 22, 2300, somewhere in there." (Tr. 79-80)

* * * *

"Q. So then you are talking about a figure of maybe a thousand, twelve hundred feet away.

"A. Well, I know that territory there.

"Q. You were looking at a point or distance down on 21st South, approximately 1200 feet away, down in this area (indicating)?

"A. Yah." (Tr. 80-81)

POINT II.

THE PLAINTIFF ASSUMED THE RISK OF
RIDING WITH THE DRIVER HARWARD.

The Court properly held that the plaintiff assumed the risk in this case. Without stressing the intoxication of the defendant Harward, we submit that the intoxication and actions of the plaintiff, the other passenger, and the activities that night were adequately established by the record. Officer Iba took 35 or 40 cans of beer from the car. (Tr. 19). They had been drinking all evening and the testimony of Finnegan is conclusive as well as providing some measure of humor. He testified on cross-examination while being confronted with his deposition previously given.

"A. That's right.

"MR. AADNESEN: On Page 5, line 6. (Reading) 'Question: You didn't actually keep a count of the number of beers you had?

'Answer: No, but it was a period of about three hours. I would say we consumed, maybe, oh, maybe about eight beers, or ten, in the period of three hours.'

"Is that about right?

"A. Six, eight, ten, I don't count them.

"Q. Now, you say Mr. Milligan's condition was just fine. You've testified to that. Nothing wrong with him.

"A. His condition?

"Q. Yes

"A. Yes.

"Q. And you drank drink for drink with him, except he had, what, about three more? Isn't that what you said?

"A. No, I didn't say he had three more. I say I believe I consumed just as many as he did, or Coy either.

"Q. And so if there was anything wrong with him, there would have been with you?

"A. That's right.

"Q. You can drink about the same amount he can, can't you?

"A. If I don't drink anything else.

"Q. Well, you two have been out drinking before. You know what capacity he has, don't you?

"A. Drank beer.

"Q. I say, you have been drinking before with Mr. Milligan; you are friends.

"A. Oh, yes, I've drank with Mr. Milligan before.

"Q. And there have been times when you have gotten a little under the weather. So you know how much it takes, don't you?

"A. Oh, yes. Yes. Yes. I'll say that, yes.

"Q. And would you say that the two of you drink about the same; it takes about the same amount before you have any problem, like intoxication?

"A. Well, as far as beer is concerned, I'll tell you the truth, I don't have any problem with beer at all.

"Q. Do you drink enough of it to know that?

"A. Yes, I do.

"Q. Would it be your testimony—

"A. I've consumed a lot more beer than that ever would, I'll promise you that.

"Q. Would it be your testimony you have never been drunk on beer?

"A. That I've been drunk on beer?

"Q. Yes.

"A. You can get stupid on beer, if you get overloaded, I'll say that, yes.

"Q. What's the difference between 'stupid' and 'drunk'?

"A. There's a lotta difference. When you're drinking 3.2 beer, then you're drinking something else that's real hard, why, there's a lot of difference between being stupid and drunk.

"Q. What's the 'stupid'?

"A. I guess it puts you in a daze, as far as I know.

"Q. Puts you in a kind of a daze, so you couldn't see plainly?

"A. If you were drunk, yes.

"Q. Now, you'd never drive a car in that condition, would you?

"A. No. Nobody else would.

"Q. You wouldn't get in the same car, would you?

"A. No.

"Q. And you wouldn't expect Mr. Milligan to?

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